IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOEY K. SIMMONS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-00205

BETTY C. SIMMONS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT JOEY K. SIMMONS

WREN C. WAY, MSBN
WAY, FIELD & BODRON
P. O. BOX 1113
1001 LOCUST STREET
VICKSBURG, MS 39180
(601) 634-8968
FAX: (601) 638-5223

E-MAIL: wayfieldbodron@cablelynx.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOEY K. SIMMONS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-00205

BETTY C. SIMMONS

APPELLEE

I.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

IV.	Statement of the Issues
V.	Statement of the Case
VI.	Summary of the Argument
VII.	Argument
VIII.	Conclusion
	Certificate of Service

III.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	PAGE NO.	
Brown v. Brown, 872 So2d. 787 (Miss. App.2004)	6	
Bryant, Inc. V. Walters, So.2d 933, 9365-36 (Miss. 1996)	7	
C.M. v R. D.H., 947 So.2d 1023 (Miss.App.2007)	9	
Dynasteel Corp v. Aztec Industries, Inc., 611 So. 2d 977,981 (Miss. 1992)	12	
Heleaseco Seventeen, Inc. V. Drake, 102 F.R.D. 909, 912 (D.Del 1984)	7, 8	
H.F. Livermore Corp .v Aktiengesellschaft Gebruder Loepfe, 432 F.2d 689 (D.C. Cir.1970) 7		
Holmes v. Holmes, 628 So. 2d 1367 (Miss. 1993)	10, 11	
Hutton v. Fischer, 359 F. 2d 913 (3d cir. 1966)	7	
Iuka Guaranty Bank v. Beard, 658 So.2d 1368 (Miss. 1995)	9	
Journey v. Long, 585 So.2d 787 (Miss.1991)	6, 10, 11, 12	
King v. King, 556 So. 2d 716, 719 (Miss. 1990)	11	
Lutomski v. Panther Valley Coin Exchange, 653 F. 2d 270, 272 (6th Cir. 1981)	7	
Mayoza v. Mayoza, 526 So.2d. 547 (Miss. 1988)	8, 9	
Powell v. Powell, 644 So. 2d 269 (Miss. 1994)	13	
Rawson v. Buta, 609 So.2d 426 (Miss. 1992)	5,10	
Saddler v. Saddler, 556 So. 2d 344 (Miss. 1990)	13	
Sanford v. Sanford, 749 So. 2d 353 (Miss. App. 1999)	11	
Sanghi v. Sanghi ,759 So. 2d 1250 (Miss. App. 2000)	12	
Trust Co. Bank v. Tingen-Milford Drapery Co., 119 F.R.D. 21, 22 (ED.N.C. 198	7, 8	
United States v One 1966 Chevrolet Pickup Truck, 56 F.R.D. 459 (E.D. Tex 197	8 (2)	

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- The lower court erred in holding that appellant was required to file his Motion to
 Set Aside Judgment of divorce within ten (10) days from the date of the judgment.
- 2. The lower court erred in its application of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure,
 Rule 60 (b) (1) in failing to find that the judgment was obtained by "fraud,
 misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party."
- 3. The lower court erred in its application of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 60 (b) (6) in failing to find from the facts presented "any other reason justifying relief from the judgment of divorce."
- 4. The lower court erred in its application of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure,
 Rule 55 (b) (c) and (e) in failing to find that appellant had "appeared" in the cause
 below, as set forth in said rule requiring that appellant be given notice of the
 hearing.
- 5. There is no record of the testimony in the court below; hence no evidence exists that would support the lower court's inequitable finding that appellee was entitled to all of the marital assets of the parties, as well as attorney's fees.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the denial, by the Chancery Court of Warren County, Mississippi, of appellant's Motion to Set Aside Judgment of Divorce with supporting affidavits. The judgment was rendered after an uncontested divorce hearing of which appellant had no notice or knowledge, even though appellant had appeared in the matter. The lower court awarded appellee a divorce on the grounds of cruel and inhumane treatment, all of the parties' marital assets consisting of the home and all furniture and appliances, and attorney's fees in the amount of \$600.00. Appellant appeals therefrom.

VI.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Upon learning of the judgment of divorce, Joey filed his Motion to Set Aside Judgment predicated under Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 60 (b) which allows relief from any judgment on the grounds of (1) fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party, or (2) any other reason justifying relief from the judgment(T-13). Joey's Motion and attached affidavits recite the facts previously set out in this Brief. Betty, in her Response to the Motion and affidavit by the attorney, does not deny any of the allegations put forward by Joey except to deny, only in the Response, the allegation that the parties lived together after the divorce. The fact that they continued to live together is supported by all of Joey and his child's affidavit and disputed by no affidavit. Similarly, all affidavits filed in this cause, including that of Betty's attorney, confirm that there was contact between Betty's attorney and the attorney for Joey relating to a settlement of the divorce matter by agreeing to the divorce and to a proposal for an equitable division of the marital assets.

All affidavits confirm that after Joey was served with process, his attorney contacted Betty's attorney agreeing to an irreconcilable difference divorce and seeking a discussion with regard to an equitable division of the marital assets. Such contact constitutes an appearance under the Mississippi rules of Civil Procedure 55 (b), which Rule requires that Joey be given notice of the hearing, which was not done.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOEY K. SIMMONS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-00205

BETTY C. SIMMONS

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 4, 2009, Betty C. Simmons ("Betty") filed her Complaint in the Chancery Court of Warren County, Mississippi, seeking a divorce from Joey K. Simmons ("Joey"). The Complaint charged that Joey "... has been guilty of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment of Plaintiff or, in the alternative, that the marriage of the parties met with irreconcilable differences..." Betty asked for the exclusive use and possession of the marital domicile and all furnishings therein, temporary, periodic alimony and attorney's fees. (T 4-5)

Joey and Betty had been married for 28 years until a Judgment for Divorce and Other Relief was entered by the Court on August 21, 2009 (T-3) (T-11). Joey was aware of Betty's filing for divorce since he was served with a Rule 4 summons and copy of the Complaint on June 24, 2009. But Joey was totally unaware of the actual divorce being heard and entered on August 21,2009, until more than a month later, on September 30, 2009. Even after the filing of the Complaint and entry of the Judgment the parties continued to live together at the family domicile, and with the same relationship they had for the past several years (T-21, Joey's Affidavit).

Joey Simmons, Jr. And Heather McCardle, two of the couple's adult children, were likewise unaware of their parents being divorced (T-24).

After entry of the Final Judgment on August 21,2009 (T-11), Betty continued to live with Joey in the marital domicile as though nothing had changed and did not inform Joey of the divorce. (T-21, T-24)

On August 26, 2009, five (5) days after the divorce, Joey and Betty appeared before a Justice Court Judge in order that Betty answer charges of simple assault brought by Joey. Betty was accompanied by her attorney, David Sessums, who had prepared the Final Judgment of Divorce. When directly questioned by the Judge, whether the parties were married, both Joey and Betty replied "yes", which response was not contradicted by Betty's attorney who knew the parities were no longer married. (T-21, T-24). When Joey was questioned if he had an attorney, he responded "Yes, Wren Way for a divorce matter" (T-21). Had Joey been told the truth that the divorce judgment had been entered five days earlier and that all of his worldly possessions had been awarded to Betty, Joey would have had ample time to file his motion to set aside the judgment and seek a more equitable distribution of the couple's marital assets (T-13) The lower court found that Joey's Motion to Set Aside Judgment was not filed until September 30,2009, which was more than 10 days after entry of the divorce decree, and dismissed Joey's motion (T-15), and further found that Joey had not entered an appearance in the matter, and that "this case is not one of extraordinary and compelling circumstances." (T-46)

APPEARANCE

The contact between the attorney's representing both Joey and Betty was sufficient, under the procedural Rules, to require that Joey recieve actual notice of the hearing date. In *Rawson v.*Buta, 609 So2d 426 (Miss. 1992) the Court held:

"As a general rule, the failure of a party to answer a complaint opens the party to default judgment. Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 55 (a). In a divorce case, however, the rule for default judgment imposes special requirements:

PROOF REQUIRED DESPITE DEFAULT IN CERTAIN

CASES. No judgment by default shall be entered against... a party to a suit for divorce... unless the claimant establishes his claim or rights to relief by evidence, provided, however, that divorces on the grounds of irreconcilable differences may be granted pro confesso as provided by statute. Miss Rules of Civil Procedure 55 (e) (1990)" (at page 430)

Likewise, Rule 55 (c) states that, for good cause shown, the court may set aside such judgment in accordance with Rule 60 (b). Rule 55 (b) requires that if the defendant has "appeared", he is entitled to no less than three (3) days notice prior to the hearing.

Nonetheless, the Chancellor below held:

"The Court finds that Mr. Simmons did not file an Answer or enter an appearance after being served.

The Court finds that Mrs. Simmons was not required to give Mr. Simmons notice of the uncontested divorce hearing.

The Court finds that Mr. Simmons did not file his Motion to Set Aside Judgment within ten (10) days of the Judgment of divorce." (T-15)

It is respectfully submitted that all three of these findings are error requiring remand of this matter.

Clearly this Court has expanded the meaning of "appearance" as used in M.R.C.P. 55(b) and Rules 55(c) and Rule 60 (b). Also, Rule 40 (b) requiring notice of trial settings in divorce cases where, although filing no answer, a party is entitled to such notice where an "appearance" has been entered. *Brown v. Brown*, 872 So 2d 787 (Miss. App. 2004)

The often cited footnote #5 in *Journey v. Long*, 585 So 2d 787 (Miss.1991), cites cases and instances of application of the term "appearance" from other jurisdictions, since there are no Mississippi cases directly on point:

"5. Because it was not raised, we do not reach the question

whether defendants made an "appearance" sufficient to be entitled to notice of any hearing on application for default judgment. No cases in Mississippi have addressed this issue. Thus, we would analyze decisions from courts of the United States construing and interpreting Rule 55 (b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure which contains provisions essentially identical with our state rules. *Bryant, Inc v. Walters*, So. 2d 933, 935-36 (Miss. 1986).

Traditionally, for an action to constitute an appearance, one had to file documents in or actually physically appear before a court. Trust Co. Bank v. Tingen-Milford Drapery Co., 119 F.R.D. 21, 22 (E.D.N.C. 1987). Today, however, those requirements have been relaxed considerably for Rule 55 purposes. "Courts now look beyond the presence or absence of such formal actions..." Lutomski v. Panther Valley Coin Exchange, 653 F. 2d 270, 272 (6th Cir. 1981). The appearance commanded by Rule 55 (b) has been defined broadly and interpreted liberally and is not limited to formal court appearance. Heleaseco Seventeen, Inc. v. Drake, 102 F. R. D. 909, 912 (D. Del. 1984) quoting *H.F. Livermore Corp* .v Aktiengesellschaft Gebruder Loepfe, 432 F. 2d 689 (D.C. Cir.1970). Indeed, several cases have held that informal contacts between parties may constitute an appearance. See, e.g. H.F. Livermore Corp., 432 F.2d (689) (D. C. Cir. 1970) (defendant found to appear in action where the court was informed that during settlement negotiations, letters, in which the defendant made clear its intention to defend suit, were exchanged between the attorneys for the parties); *Hutton v. Fischer*, 359 F.2d 913 (3d Cir. 1966) (court found that telephone call from defendants counsel for more

time, sufficient to meet the appearance standard of Rule 55 (b)(2)); United States v. One 1966 Chevrolet Pickup Truck, 56 F.R.D. 459 (E.D. Tex. 1972) (court held that the defense attorney's filing with the I.R.S. of a claim to the property forfeited and a court bond to transfer jurisdiction was sufficient notice of claimant's clear purpose to defend and sufficient to constitute appearance); Heleasco Seventeen, Inc., 102 F.R.D. 909 (D. Del. 1984) (defendants made appearance where their attorney initiated telephone conversations with plaintiff's attorney and defendant's attorney conveyed to plaintiff's attorney problems defendants were having due to the complexity of the case); Trust Co. Bank 119 F.R.D. 21 (E.D.N.C.) (telephone conversations between defendant's attorney and plaintiff's attorney inquiring as to date on which answer had been filed constituted an appearance by implication).

It is clear that defendants have now made an appearance by any standard and they are therefore entitled to notice and to be heard on any motion to assess damages on remand." (at page 1272-1273.

In *Mayoza v. Mayoza*, 526 So 2d 547, Laura Beth filed her complaint for divorce from Nathaniel citing the ground of cruel and inhumane treatment. No answer was filed and the matter was heard uncontested with the court granting the divorce and awarding Laura alimony and use and possession of the marital home. Nathaniel filed a Rule 60(b) motion to have the judgment set aside, alleging that he did not file an answer because he could not afford an attorney and did not know that he could have contested the matter *pro se*. The Supreme Court upheld the Chancellor's decision to dismiss the motion, stating that Nathaniel was an educated person and found the excuse "... rather unbelievable considering that Nathaniel was no newcomer to divorce court,

having on three prior occasions been a party to uncontested divorce proceedings." (at page 549)

The *Mayoza* court generally discussed the applicability of our Rules of Civil Procedure and, in particular, Rule 60 (b) as it relates to a claim for relief from the lower court's refusal to vacate a final judgment of divorce entered following a uncontested divorce hearing:

"Seen in this light, we are concerned with a special kind of default judgment." "Rule 55 (e) provides that judgment by default in actions for divorce or annulment of marriage may only be granted where the claimant establishes his claim or rights to relief by evidence, provided, however, that divorces on the grounds of irreconcilable differences may be granted pro confesso as provided by statute." (At page 548).

In the case below, Joey's attorney had contacted Betty's attorney to express that Joey did not wish to contest the divorce, but he did have a problem with Betty being awarded the marital home and everything in it as she had requested in her complaint, since such an award would give Betty virtually 100% of the marital assets of the parties. As soon as he became aware that a divorce decree had been entered giving Betty all of the family's assets, Joey filed immediately this motion to set the judgment aside. Betty had conveniently, or by design, let the 30-day period run before informing Joey and their children of the divorce and that she now owned the home, all furniture and appliances and was awarded attorney's fees. Also, during the 30-day interim after entry of the divorce, she falsely led a Justice Court judge, and Joey, to believe the parties were still married in an affirmative response to a direct question as to their marital status.

M.R.C.P. 60 clearly lies to remedy a wrongful judgment for "fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party" (Rule 60 (b) (1)), or "any other reason justifying relief from the judgment." (Rule 60 (b) (6)). Betty's misrepresentations were intentional and material and deprived Joey of his fundamental rights. See *C.M. v. R.D.H*, 947 So 2d, 1023 (Miss.App. 2007), and *Iuka Guaranty Bank v. Beard*, 658 So 2d, 1368 (Miss.1995). It is respectfully submitted that, for the lower court erred in its findings ,from all facts and circumstances surrounding this case as set forth in affidavits, Joey was not entitled to relief because "this case

is not one of extraordinary and compelling circumstances." (T-45), or that the motion was not filed within ten (10) days from the date of the judgment(T-44) is an abuse of discretion as well as a misapplication of Rule 60 (b) which requires that the motion be filed "within a reasonable time" under Rule 60 (b) (6) and "not more than six months" after judgment is entered under Rule 60 (b) (1).

The Court delved further into its ruling in *Rawson*, supra, that Rule 55 (b) was applicable to uncontested divorce cases and required notice to the defendant who has entered their appearance in the case of *Holmes v. Holmes*, 628 So 2d 1361 (Miss.1993). Citing the holding in *Journey v. Long*, supra, the *Holmes* court noted:

"In the case at bar, Mrs. Holmes promptly contacted an attorney. Her attorney wrote her husband's attorney and informed him that Mrs. Holmes was represented by counsel and that she wished to settle the case if possible; however, he made clear Mrs. Holmes' intent to defend the suit should no settlement be reached. With knowledge of this letter, Mr. Holmes' attorney nevertheless proceeded to secure a divorce by default against Mrs. Holmes. In this regard, his conduct suggests gamesmanship. In the Comment to M.R.C.P. 1, it is stated that "properly utilized, the rules will tend to discourage battles over mere form and to sweep away needless procedural controversies that either delay a trial on the merits or deny a party his day in court because of technical deficiencies." Conversely, improper utilization of the rules invariably results in the type of gamesmanship and ambush techniques, employed in the case at bar, that the rules were designed to abolish. We refuse to condone such behavior and therefore reverse the judgment of the chancellor and remand for

proceedings consistent with the opinion rendered in this cause."
(at page 1364-1365)

In *Journey v. Long*, the Court launched into a discussion of whether the defendant had "appeared' by allegedly sliding their answer under the door of the closed clerk's office, noting that the question was not raised by the parties but needed nationwide exploration since it was a mater of first impression. In *Holmes*, Mrs. Holmes' attorney filed no answer but, instead, wrote a letter to Mr. Holmes' attorney seeking a settlement of the couple's marital assets, thereby evidencing an intent to defend the suit on that basis, which constituted an appearance under Rule 55 (b). In the subsequent case of *Sanford v Sanford*, 749 So 2d 353 (Miss. App. 1999), Mrs. Sanford filed her Rule 60 (b) Motion for Relief from judgment based on the fact that she was not native to America. She did not file an answer because she felt that answering the complaint of her husband was unwifely, and that she believed that the granting of the divorce was automatic. The Court reversed and remanded the case, granting the motion for relief, stating:

"Though an argument in this precise setting has not apparently arisen on a previous appeal, the general issues have been addressed. In one case a husband appealed the denial of his motion to set aside a judgment of divorce. The supreme court reversed the denial of the motion, saying through Justice Joel Blass that the "court has not favored final decrees which are the product of surprise, accident, mistake or fraud." *King v. King*, 556 So. 2d 716, 719 (Miss. 1990). Though the facts are considerably different than here, in another appeal the supreme court reversed a chancellor's refusal to set aside a property settlement. *Peterson v. Peterson*, 648 So 2d 54 (Miss. 1994). There was a procedural error, but the court also was concerned that confusion had surrounded the case from its

inception. *Id.* at 56-57. That is conclusively proven to be true here as well.

Mrs. Sanford's persistent misunderstanding of Mississippi's divorce law was coupled with the fact that she was unrepresented by counsel. Her letters indicated an individual who found divorce repugnant to her personal values, so much so that she was willing to go to the extraordinary lengths of offering to reconcile with her husband and adopt his baby that he had with a mistress." (At page 360)

This ruling was made in reliance upon rights of litigants provided in Rule 60 (b).

In *Sanghi v. Sanghi*, 759 So 2d 1250 (Miss. App. 2000), Dr. Sanghi sought relief from a divorce judgment where no answer was filed, but contended that he entered an appearance by contacting the court's administrator seeking a continuance. The Court held:

"This raises the issue of whether Dr. Sanghi made an "appearance." The most expansive definition of "appearance" is under the rules applicable to default judgments. There, an appearance occurs when "the non-movant has manifested to the movant a clear intent to defend the suit." *Dynasteel Corp. v. Aztec Industries, Inc.*, 611 So 2d 977,981 (Miss. 1992). The court held "formal court appearances" were not required; it cited another precedent that stated "informal contacts between parties may constitute an appearance," including seeking more time to answer. *Id.*, (citing *Journey v. Long*, 585 So. 2d 1268, 1272 n. 5 (Miss

Though we find that Dr. Sanghi's contacting the court administrator to seek a later hearing date could be an appearance for default judgment purposes, it is a different matter of whether it is an appearance waiving a service of a summons under Rule 81. A defendant's appearance under default judgment analysis triggers the obligation to give that defendant three days notice prior to a hearing on the default. M.R.C.P. 55(b). For a default judgment a defendant wants to be found to have made an appearance so that notice will be given. On the other hand, merely contacting the court administrator would not be an appearance that waives defects in the service of a summons of a complaint. Lawrence J. Franck & J. Collins Wohner, Jr., Commencement of the Action, in 1 Jeffrey Jackson (ed.), Mississippi Civil Procedure, § 5:30 at 5-44 through 5-46 (1999).

We conclude that Rule 81 notice to revive a dormant action provides protections akin to those for beginning litigation. The Supreme Court has found that compliance with Rule 81 is mandatory. *Powell*, 644 So.2d at 274. We would read that to mean that it is mandatory unless the defendant has, as in *Saddler*, done something to waive his right to insist upon proper service. We find that Dr. Sanghi's contact with the court administrator to seek a more convenient time for the hearing, was not a waiver of his right to object to the absence of proper service of a summons upon him.

The orders that we are called upon to review in this appeal arise from the April 13 hearing to which Dr. Sanghi was never properly summonsed. What occurred in July, especially the incarceration pending the defendant's purging of his contempt, had no basis without the findings made in April. Consequently we reverse and remand for further proceedings." (at page 1257,1258)

CONCLUSION

Joey Simmons made an appearance before the court below sufficient to satisfy the requirements of M.R.C.P. Rule 55 by agreeing that his marriage with Betty was beset with irreconcilable differences, but disagreeing that she was entitled to all of the couples's marital assets. Appellant was entitled to notice of the hearing pursuant to Rule 55 (b) (c) and (e) and Rule 60 (b) so that he could present to the lower court his case for an equitable division of marital assets and his defense to paying Betty's attorney's fees.

Given the facts and circumstances surrounding the obtaining of a divorce by default after the parties' attorneys had conferred as well as Betty's subsequent deception, the lower court abused its discretion in holding that Appellant had not entered his appearance and was not entitled to notice of the hearing, holding that Appellant had only ten (10) days from the date of the Judgment to file his motion to set the judgment aside under Rule 60 (b), and in holding that the case was not one of extraordinary and compelling circumstances that placed the matter within the court's "grand reservoir of equitable power to do justice in a particular case." Under Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 55 (b) (c) and (e), Joey, having entered and appearance, was entitled to notice of the divorce hearing in order to defend his substantial rights.

Appellant respectfully asks that this matter be reversed and remanded so that equity may be finally served.