IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOEY K. SIMMONS

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-00205

BETTY C. SIMMONS

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF WARREN COUNTY

David M. Sessums, MSB # ATTORNEYS FOR BETTY C. SIMMONS, APPELLEE VARNER, PARKER & SESSUMS, P.A. 1110 Jackson St. Vicksburg, MS 39181 Ph: (601)638-8741

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOEY K. SIMMONS	APPELLANT
VS.	CAUSE NO.
BETTY C. SIMMONS	APPELLER

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
ARGUMENT
SUMMARY 12
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

- 1. <u>Stinson v. Stinson</u>, 738 So. 2d 1259 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)
- 2. <u>Mayoza v. Mayozo</u>, 526 So. 2d 547 (Miss. 1998)
- 3. Rule 59 MRCP
- 4. Rule 60 MRCP

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. There was no fraud involved in the obtaining of the Judgment of Divorce.
- 2. The lower court did not err in entering the Judgment of Divorce of August 21, 2009;
- 3. The lower court did not err in entering its Final Judgment of December 29, 2009;
- 4. It is incumbent upon an appellant to show there is error in the record and not upon an appellee to show that there is no error in the record.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee agrees with Appellant's statement of the case as far as said statement of the case goes.

However, certain alleged facts are in fact disputed.

The Affidavit of David M. Sessums was filed with the Court on November 20, 2009. Thereafter, on November 25, 2009, the Affidavits of Joey K. Simmons and Heather McCardle were filed.

Because the contents of the affidavits of Joey K. Simmons and Heather McCardle were not pertinent to the issues under consideration by the Chancery Court of Warren County, no subsequent affidavits on behalf of Appellee were filed with the trial court.

However, it bears mention that statements contained in the affidavits of Joey K. Simmons and Heather McCardle about what was said at a hearing before the Justice Court of Warren County, Mississippi on August 26, 2009, are incorrect. It is disputed that Mr. Simmons stated in Justice Court that he "had Wren Way as his divorce attorney" and the similar portion of Ms. McCardle's affidavit that it was stated in the presence of David M. Sessums that Mr. Simmons had a divorce attorney, and that said attorneys name was Wren Way, is also disputed. Those words were simply never uttered.

What transpired in Justice Court was that Justice Court Judge Edwin Woods inquired of Mr. Simmons and Ms. McCardle as to whether or not Mr. Simmons and Mrs. Simmons were still living under the same roof to which all the parties replied in the affirmative and there was no representation, indication, statements or otherwise that in the divorce action Mr. Simmons was represented by Wren C. Way.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Betty C. Simmons filed her Complaint for Divorce on June 4, 2009.

On June 24, 2009, Joey K. Simmons was personally served with process.

On August 19, 2009, Betty C. Simmons and a corroborating witness appeared before the Chancery Court of Warren County in open court and testified to and substantiated Mrs. Simmons' grounds for divorce and on August 21, 2009, a Judgment for Divorce and Other Relief was entered by the Chancery Court of Warren County.

On September 30, 2009, Joey K. Simmons filed his Motion to Set Aside Judgment.

On October 5, 2009, Betty C. Simmons filed her Response to Motion to Set Aside Judgment.

On November 20, 2009, the Affidavit of David M. Sessums was filed.

On November 25, 2009, the Affidavits of Wren C. Way, Joey K. Simmons and Heather McCardle were filed.

On December 29, 2009, the lower Court entered its Final Judgment denying

Mr. Simmons' Motion to Set Aside Judgment.

Because Mr. Simmons did not file an answer or enter an appearance after being personally served with process Mrs. Simmons was not required to give him notice of the uncontested divorce hearing and, further, because Mr. Simmons did not file his Motion to Set Aside Judgment within ten (10) days of the entry of the

Judgment of Divorce and there was no fraud his Motion to Set Aside Judgment was properly denied by the Chancery Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 4, 2009, Betty Simmons filed her Complaint for Divorce against Joey K. Simmons who was personally served with process on June 24, 2009, and who thereafter never filed any documents or made any appearance with the Court.

On August 19, 2009, Betty Simmons and a corroborating witness appeared before the Chancery Court and testified to and substantiated Mrs. Simmons' grounds for divorce resulting in a Judgment for Divorce and Other Relief being entered on October 21, 2009.

On August 26, 2009, Ms. Simmons and Mr. Simmons and a daughter, Heather McCardle, appeared before the Justice Court of Warren County, Mississippi because of ongoing disputes and disturbances between them. At this time both parties were still residing at the former marital domicile.

On August 26, 2009, Justice Court Judge Edwin Woods inquired of the parties as to whether the parties were still living together at the same address to which both parties replied in the affirmative. No other representations were made to the Justice Court or in the presence of David M. Sessums who was present representing Betty Simmons. No attorney appeared before the Justice Court on behalf of Mr. Simmons.

On September 30, 2009, Mr. Simmons filed his Motion to Set Aside Judgment and on October 5, 2009, Ms. Simmons filed her response thereto.

The Affidavit of David M. Sessums was filed with the Court on November 20, 2009, which affidavit was then and has at all times since remained completely and factually accurate.

On November 25, 2009, the Affidavits of Wren C. Way, Joey K. Simmons and Heather McCardle were filed. No subsequent response by way of affidavit, testimony or otherwise was filed by Ms. Simmons.

On December 29, 2009, the Chancery Court entered its Final Judgment denying the Motion to Sed Aside Judgment and directing that the all prior orders of the Court would remain in full force and effect.

ARGUMENT

First, Wren C. Way is an excellent attorney who has practiced in Vicksburg and Warren County, Mississippi for a considerable period of time whose reputation and integrity for honesty and ethics is unquestionable. The Affidavit of David M. Sessums did not, and does not, in any way attempt to contradict any affidavit of Wren C. Way. However, at the same time, in all fealty to Betty Simmons, the contents of said affidavit also can not be admitted.

There was simply no recollection by the undersigned of Wren C. Way contacting David M. Sessums and the recollection of the undersigned was that an attorney other than Mr. Way had made contact on behalf of Mr. Simmons. When counsel's recollections about the identity of the telephoning counsel turned out to be erroneous a search of the client's file did not reveal anything which would or did trigger any recollection of Mr. Way being the one making the telephone call he professes to have made.

However, Mr. Way says he made the telephone call to David Sessums as counsel for Mrs. Simmons, and the undersigned has no reason to disbelieve Mr. Way there simply being no recollection either one way or the other.

The honesty, integrity and ability of Wren C. Way having thus been affirmed by Mrs. Simmons and her counsel herein, the ruling of the lower court was legally correct.

Mr. Simmons admits having been personally served with process. Once Mr.

Simmons was personally served with process somebody had to do something. Without question Mr. Simmons should have filed his answer with the clerk of the court. He did not do so. Possibly, Mr. Simmons could have written a letter to the clerk thereby providing a contest of sort of record but he did not do so. Perhaps an entry of appearance could have been entered on behalf of Mr. Simmons but no such appearance was entered. Perhaps a letter could have been written to counsel for Mrs. Simmons but no such letter was written or delivered.

Certainly had the undersigned counsel for Mrs. Simmons recalled that Wren C. Way had contacted him on behalf of Mr. Simmons, simple common courtesy would have mandated at least the minimum of a telephone call to Mr. Way advising him that Mrs. Simmons was proceeding with the uncontested divorce. However, transferring the requirement of Mr. Simmons filing a response with the clerk and shifting it to counsel for Mrs. Simmons is not the law. Perhaps a followup call to counsel for Mrs. Simmons may have been in order but the onus of recollecting every phone call and its contents is not on Ms. Simmons or her attorney.

The Chancery Court correctly relied upon <u>Stinson v. Stinson</u>, 738 So. 2d 1259 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) where the <u>Stinson</u> Court ruled that notice of hearings must be sent to those persons who have answered complaints but that the threshold issue is to determine whether someone who has been served and who has not appeared, either by filing an answer or by taking some alternative step,

is to receive any further notice. Applying <u>Stinson</u>, the lower court in this matter correctly found that Mr. Simmons did not need to be sent any notice of the hearing on August 19, 2009, because he never answered the complaint and never took any other actions to cause him to be recognized as a party participating in the action.

Therefore, the Chancery Court was correct in its finding and holding that Mr. Simmons was not entitled to any additional or other notice of the hearing of August 19, 2009.

Turning to the issue of Mr. Simmons' Motion for Reconsideration the Chancellor took note of Mayoza v. Mayozo, 526 So. 2d 547 (Miss. 1998) where the Mississippi Supreme Court ruled that nothing in Mississippi's divorce statutes describe or set forth any procedure for reconsideration or reopening of an uncontested divorce and for that reason, as in the instant matter, that Mr. Simmons' Motion for Reconsideration would be determined under either Rule 59 or Rule 60 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure clearly provides that a motion to alter or amend a judgment shall be filed not more than ten (10) days after the entry of the judgment. Because the Judgment of Divorce was entered in this case on August 21, 2009, and because Mr. Simmons' Motion to Set Aside Judgment was not filed until September 30, 2009, Rule 59 MRCP was clearly unavailable to Mr. Simmons.

The Chancery Court then obviously considered the provisions of Rule 60 of the Rules of Procedure and discussed Rule 60 (b)(6) correctly finding that the facts and circumstances of this case did not qualify for relief thereunder, finding that the case was not one of extraordinary and compelling circumstances.

The Chancellor by referencing MRCP 60(b)(6) under the uncontradicted facts concluded that no relief was warranted under MRCP 60 (a)(clericals mistakes) nor under MRCP 60(b) (mistakes, inadvertence and nearly discovered discovered evidence) -(1) fraud misrepresentations or other misconduct of an adverse party; (2) accident or mistake; (3) newly discovered evidence; (4) the judgment is void; or (5) the judgment has been satisfied))

In short, based upon the facts presented to her the Chancellor did not have any discretion and was required to follow controlling case law and the clear provisions of the Rules of Civil Procedure and did so.

SUMMARY

With utmost confidence in and reaffirmation of the honesty and integrity of counsel for Mr. Simmons, and his representations both to the lower court and to this Court regarding his personal actions (but in complete dispute of what was or was not represented or stated in the Justice Court) Mr. Simmons' burden of complying with the rules and case law can not be shifted from Mr. Simmons to Mrs. Simmons or her counsel who were not required to recollect an undocumented phone call from Mr. Simmons' lawyer. Once the recollection of Mrs. Simmons counsel (that it was Bill Bost who had called on behalf of Mr. Simmons) turned out to be incorrect it was not incumbent upon Mrs. Simmons or her counsel to call every attorney in Vicksburg or the State of Mississippi to determine whether or not they had called on behalf of Mr. Simmons. The Chancellor could not have rendered any other decision than she did in first entering the Judgment of Divorce and then entering her Final Judgment denying Mr. Simmons' Motion to Set Aside Judgment.

Respectfully Submitted:

BETTY C. SIMMONS

DAVID M. SESSUMS

OF COUNSEL:

Varner, Parker & Sessums, P.A. 1110 Jackson Street P.O. Box 1237 Vicksburg, MS 39181-1237 Telephone: 601-638-8741

Facsimile: 601-638-8666